#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

## **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Palm Beach County, Florida (Criminal Division)

MARK WILENSKY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 290221

DUBINER & WILENSKY, P.A. Attorneys for Thomas Thibault Northbridge Centre, Suite 325 515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4349 (561) 655-0150

#### **

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the lower tribunal. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The following symbols will be used:

- (R) denotes the Record on Appeal.
- (T) denotes Transcript of Testimony.
- (SR) denotes Supplemental Record on Appeal.

In accord with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for Appellant hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 14 point Times New Roman type, a font that is spaced proportionately.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant was indicted on December 8, 1998, for three counts of First Degree Murder With a Firearm, one count of Burglary With Assault or Battery While Armed, and one count of Armed Robbery With a Firearm. (R 43-45). The indictment was refiled on January 5, 1999. (R 49-51). The State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty on January 15, 1999. (R 53). A second refiled Indictment was filed on January 19, 1999, which included the same charges previously filed. (R 54-56). On May 16, 2000, Appellant filed a Motion to Elect and Justify Aggravating Circumstances. (R 388-389). Appellant filed a Motion for Statement of Particulars as to Aggravating Circumstances on that same date. (R 367-378). Mr. Thibault filed a Motion for Findings of Fact by the jury which contained a specific objection that the jury does not make findings of aggravating circumstances in Florida death penalty cases on May 16, 2000. (R 331-332).

On May 18, 2000, Mr. Thibault gave a recorded statement to the Office of the State Attorney regarding the case and his role in it. (T 5). On August 23, 2000, Mr. Thibault entered his plea of guilty as charged. (T 29-55).

The Appellant renewed the Motion to Elect and Justify Aggravating Circumstances, the Motion for Statement of Particulars as to Aggravating Circumstances, and the Motion for Findings of Fact by the jury which contained a

specific objection that the jury does not make findings of aggravating circumstances. (R 613-614, T 71-72). Prior to the Phase II hearing, the Court allowed the Appellant to withdraw his plea of guilty as to Count IV, in which he was charged with burglary, and the State entered a nolle prosse with regard to that count. (T 60, 67-70).

On May 30, 2001, a Phase Two hearing was held before the Honorable Marvin U. Mounts, Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. (T 62-215). On August 31, 2001, judgment was entered pursuant to the plea with regard to three counts of First Degree Murder With a Firearm and one count of Robbery With a Firearm. (R 720). On each of the three counts of First Degree Murder With a Firearm, the Defendant was sentenced to death. (R 723-766, 721). On the charge of Robbery With a Firearm, the Defendant was sentenced to life in prison, consecutive to the other sentences imposed. (R 722). A Notice of Appeal was timely filed. (R 769). This Appeal follows.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On May 19, 2000, the Appellant appeared before the Court for a scheduled plea conference. (T 1-27). At that time, the Appellant testified that he had given a statement to the prosecutors and the police the previous day. (T 9). A plea offer had been discussed which would necessitate the Appellant's serving life imprisonment in the Department of Corrections. (T 10). The Appellant testified that he was aware that the plea offer to life was available for that day only. (T 11). The Appellant explained that he was unprepared to take a plea at that time as he felt that his lawyers had not properly investigated the case. (T 12). The Appellant sought to have both of his lawyers withdrawn from representing him. (T 15). Appellant's Phase One counsel was privately retained. (T 15). The lower tribunal allowed the Appellant additional time to think about his situation and took no action on the case at that time. (T 25-27).

On May 23, 2000, the Appellant agreed to continue with his lead counsel (SR 4-5), but he asked that his Phase Two counsel be discharged. (SR 5).

On August 23, 2000, the Appellant appeared before the Court to enter a plea to the Court. (T 29-60). At the same time the Appellant was entering his plea, the Court inquired as to whether the Appellant wished to proceed "to a full Phase Two trial with or without a jury." (T 37). The following colloquy took place:

THE COURT: All right.

And also with both lawyers, I want your response to this: He is, I am sure, legally entitled to a full phase two trial with or without a jury. And is he waiving that day or does he want that? Has that been discussed by the lawyers; and have you discussed it with the client? That is a whole bunch of questions, I realize.

MR. GARCIA: Your Honor, if I could answer first.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. GARCIA: I have had quite a few conversations with Mr. Thibault over the course of the last two weeks. We have discussed many issues, one being obviously if we were to go forward with just entering a plea of guilty to the Court, we would have the right to either have a phase two with or without a jury; and it was my understanding that we would be requesting a phase two hearing with just Your Honor.

And we have been over this and discussed this. Mr. Massa is relatively new to this case, as far as the preparations he would need to make to be prepared for phase two. I believe he has been on vacation probably no more than a month. I think a month is probably even stretching it.

So this would be a decision that the three of us would make at some

point in time, but I have had preliminary discussions with Mr. Thibault.

This is something we had already decided we will go forward and do, if it comes down to that.

THE COURT: All right.

The State presented a factual basis that on November 26, 1998, at approximately three or four o'clock in the morning, Daniel Ketchum, Brian Harrison, and Charlotte Kenyon were shot to death. (T 45). During the course of investigation, it was revealed that Mr. Thibault, along with John Chamberlain and Jason Dascott, went to the victims' home in the early morning hours of that day. (T 45). At some point in time, an agreement was reached that the three visitors would rob those present in the house of some property which Mr. Ketchum had for sale. (T 46). The Appellant got a gun from Chamberlain, and put Ketchum in the bathroom. (T 46). A scuffle ensued and Ketchum was fatally shot once in the head. (T 46). At one point someone else in the house told the Appellant, "No witnesses." (T 46). At that time, Brian Harrison and Charlotte Kenyon were escorted into the bathroom and Mr. Harrison was shot approximately five times and Ms. Kenyon was shot approximately four times. (T 46).

During the course of the shooting, Chamberlain and Dascott assisted the Appellant in removing miscellaneous items of property, including televisions, VCRs,

other electronic equipment, and wallets. (T 46-47). The firearm used in the case belonged to Chamberlain's father. (T 47). The Appellant attempted to leave the residence in Mr. Ketchum's pickup truck, but was unable to get it started. (T 47). Later during the day of Thanksgiving, Mr. Thibault made numerous statements to numerous individuals confessing his role as the shooter and as the actual person who killed the three decedents. (T 47).

The Appellant was later arrested and after first declining to make a statement, he reinitiated contact with the police and a conversation between the Appellant and his mother was tape recorded. In that conversation, Mr. Thibault confessed that he was the shooter. (T 47-48). The Court incorporated into the plea the statement given by the Appellant to the State on May 18, 2000. (T 52-53). The Court accepted Mr. Thibault's change of plea from not guilty to guilty to all charges before the Court. (T 55).

The Phase Two proceedings took place before the Court, without a jury, on May 30, 2001. (T 62-216). The Appellant's mother, Lisa Temple, explained that when she was pregnant with Mr. Thibault, she was thrown out of school. (T 75-77). She was 14 years old when she gave birth to Mr. Thibault. (T 78). She married Mr. Thibault's father in what she described as a shotgun wedding. (T 78). At that time she was 16. (T 78). Mr. Thibault was born into a family of drugs and violence. (T

80). His grandfather, with whom he lived, brought bales of marijuana over on his boat. (T 80). His grandfather on his father's side scammed insurance companies. (T 81). At the age of 16, when Mr. Thibault was a year old, his mother became pregnant with his sister. (T 82). The father of Mr. Thibault's sister drank often and Mr. Thibault's mother, who had begun smoking marijuana at the age of 11, began smoking it again between the age of 17 and 18, when Mr. Thibault was approximately three years old. (T 84).

When Mr. Thibault was between the age of four and six, he became aware that his mother was smoking marijuana and he began to smoke himself at the age of 14. (T 85-86). His mother knew he was smoking marijuana in the house, and did not stop him. (T 86). Mr. Thibault began using cocaine when he was approximately 16 or 17 years old. (T 87). His mother was aware that he was using cocaine and tried to dissuade him from it, but got him no treatment. (T 87-88). At the age of approximately 17, Mr. Thibault had a girlfriend who was dealing in drugs and had been living with him in his mother's home. (T 88-89). He left home at the age of 17. (T 90-91). At the age of 19, he moved back home and was still smoking and selling marijuana. (T 93).

When Mr. Thibault was approximately eight years old, he was fondled by his mother's stepsister, who was babysitting for him. (T 94-95). He received no

counseling and there was no report made to any authority. (T 95). Mr. Thibault was never violent as a child, and was a happy child. (T 96). By the time Mr. Thibault was 14 or 15 years old, he was quite popular and had a good self-image. (T 97). He was quite talented in art and won an art scholarship. (T 97). Mr. Thibault had a daughter of his own when he moved back with his mother at age 19, and he parented the baby himself. (T 98-99). He always showed good parenting skills. (T 100). He lived with his daughter the first two years of her life and was always a good parent (T 100-101). His mother testified that Mr. Thibault was a generous man, always willing to help others, and was a good person. (T 101-102). She was shocked that he was involved in the instant case and felt that drugs were the cause of his problems. (T 102). He had changed some two or three months before the incident, and started spending more time with his friends and less with his family. (T 103).

Mr. Thibault was remorseful from the very start with regard to this incident. (T 125). He showed consistent sorrow and remorse from the time of the incident through the time of his sentencing. (T 125-126).

Dr. William Weitz, a licensed psychologist, testified before the Court, which accepted his testimony, although it was not under oath. (T 105-106). Weitz reviewed the testimony that Mr. Thibault gave in the trial of his co-defendant, as well as his deposition, and did an in-depth interview with him at the Palm Beach County Jail. (T

106-107). He felt that Mr. Thibault's intellect was above average and that he had special talent and abilities educationally, in the creative artistic areas. (T 109). He noted that Mr. Thibault's mother had three men in the family from the time she was age 15 to 20, and gave birth to the Appellant at age 15. (T 110). Mr. Thibault was sexually assaulted by his aunt at the age of 8. (T 110). He was also the subject of verbal abuse and emotional abuse by two of his stepfathers. (T 110). There were no parent role models and Mr. Thibault was essentially self-supporting (T 110). He began using drugs at the age of 8 or 9, and by 10 or 11 years of age he was a chronic user of drugs and actually got involved in drug sales. (T 111). By the age of 17, he had a child out of wedlock.

Dr. Weitz testified that Mr. Thibault's drug use and especially that use just before the incident had a negative impact on him, psychologically. (T 114-115). Dr. Weitz's testimony was that the Appellant acted under duress or the influence of another in that the general plan and the manner in which the incident was carried out were at the direct and specific input of others. (T 115-116). Although he took responsibility for his actions, Weitz felt that Mr. Thibault didn't actually perpetrate or come up with the plan or ideas which caused the criminal episode. (T 116-117). On cross examination, Dr. Weitz indicated that Mr. Thibault was aware that there was a plan to rob and take things from the victims and that Mr. Thibault did not have a major

psychiatric disorder. (T 121-122). However, Dr. Weitz testified that Mr. Thibault was sincerely remorseful for that which had taken place. (T 122-123).

Robert Scott Temple testified that Mr. Thibault was a hard worker (T 128, 129). He started out with no knowledge of the painting profession, and became a crew leader. (T 128-129). He felt that Mr. Thibault was strong minded and had a good heart. (T 131). When Mr. Thibault set his mind to something, he liked to finish it and he always put his daughter first when he was raising her. (T 131). He was true to his word, was helpful to others, and was a generally good and honest person, who had no prior history of violence. (T 131-132). He testified that the last months before the incident, Mr. Thibault's life had turned. (T 133). He was aware that Mr. Thibault smoked marijuana and that he dabbled in cocaine, but up until a number of months before the incident did not know that Mr. Thibault was using drugs to the extent that he was. (T 134).

Bobbie Dutton testified that she was the family's babysitter from the time he was approximately 13 years old. (T 135-136). Mr. Thibault helped her with the care of Mr. Thibault's little sister, and was very close to her as a little boy. (T 137). Mr. Thibault was very good with his daughter, attentive, watched over her, and took care of her. (T 139).

Thomas Daniel Thibault, Sr., the father of the Appellant, testified that he

divorced Mr. Thibault's mother when Mr. Thibault was approximately one year old. (T 145). He never acted as a father for Appellant. (T 145-146).

Edward Maldonado testified that he knew Mr. Thibault since high school. (T 147). They both had grown up without a father, both liked art, and had much in common. (T 147). During the time he knew him, he never knew Mr. Thibault to be a violent person. (T 148). He always appeared to be a leader. (T 148). He was an easy person to talk to, and was kind and generous to others. (T 148-149). As he grew older, there was a progression in his drug use. (T 149). Mr. Thibault explained to Maldonado that it was hard for him to live with himself because of what he had done and that he woke up every morning with visions of what had happened. (T 150).

Mr. Thibault's sister, Michele Shimele, testified that she grew up with the Appellant who was very protective of her and acted as a parent to her. (T 152-153). She testified that her brother had always been the man in the house and always provided emotional support. (T 153). The drugs he used later in his life affected him substantially. (T 154). She testified that Mr. Thibault remained extremely concerned about his daughter and did what he can to take care of her, even while incarcerated. (T 154-155). Ms. Shimele felt that it was the drugs that caused the incident which resulted in the murder. (T 155). Her brother had never been violent and she was shocked to know that her brother had committed these crimes. (T 155-156).

Annette Yoder, the mother of the Appellant's daughter, testified that she was aware that the Appellant was extremely remorseful for both the incident and how it affected their daughte, his family and the families of those that were killed. (T 158). She stated that the Appellant was a great father, planned with her for family events, took her daughter places, was involved in her schooling, and was loved sincerely by his daughter. (T 159).

At the allocution hearing, the State advised the Court that all of the victim families felt that Mr. Thibault had been cooperative, truthful, had testified in the trial of his co-defendant Chamberlain, and had indicated a willingness to testify against any other person who may in the future face criminal responsibility for the homicides. (T 194). The family members further indicated that they wanted the Court to know that because Mr. Thibault told the truth from the beginning and testified against the codefendant that it was acceptable to them if the Court decided to sentence Mr. Thibault to life imprisonment. (T 195).

Thomas Thibault testified that he gave statements to the State and police authorities that were damaging to his legal position in this case because he felt that he had a responsibility to the families of the victims to let it be known what had actually happened. (T 200). He had an opportunity to enter a plea to receive a life sentence and turned it down, because he didn't want to be bound by the State, but rather

wanted to do the right thing for the families of the victims, for himself, for his family, and for God. (T 201). He read a poem to the Court to explain that he realized that he had taken the wrong path in life. (T 203). He indicated that while he was not rejecting responsibility for what he had done, he wanted the opportunity to do something different with the rest of his life. (T 203-204). Mr. Thibault further read a letter to the victims' families, which again accepted complete responsibility for his actions and his remorse for their grief, pain and loss. (T 204-205).

After the Phase Two testimony was completed, the State Attorney clarified for the Court that the victims' families continued to affirmatively agree with a sentence of life imprisonment. (T 207).

Sentencing hearing took place before the lower tribunal on August 31, 2001. (T 217-258). The Court read its sentencing order at that time. (T 200-257). The Court found that the capital felonies were committed while the Appellant was on felony probation, and that he was convicted of three capital felonies and of the felony of robbery, a crime involving the use of violence against three persons in their own home. (T 255). The Court found that the capital felonies were committed while the Appellant was engaged in the commission of a violent extended robbery, for the purpose of preventing or avoiding a lawful arrest, for pecuniary gain, and in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of any moral or legal justification. (T 255-

255). The Court found six aggravators proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (T 256). The Court found only one mitigating circumstance, which it was felt was established beyond a reasonable doubt; to wit: the Appellant accepted responsibility for his crimes and testified against an equally culpable co-defendant. (T 256).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The death sentence violates the United States and Florida Constitutions pursuant to Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000) and Ring v. Arizona, \_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 2002 WL 1357257 (June 24, 2002). The Florida statutory scheme is facially unconstitutional and no lawful death sentence could have been entered pursuant to the procedure set forth in the Florida law. Although Mr. Thibault waived the jury advisory verdict, that waiver has no effect on the validity of the statute or the procedure followed in this case. An advisory verdict cannot breathe life into the Florida statutory scheme condemned by Apprendi and Ring. In light of the invalidity of the provisions for imposition of the death sentence, Mr. Thibault must be sentenced to life in prison.

The Florida statute provided for an advisory jury verdict. The statute further contemplates that a defendant may waive that advisory verdict, and this Court has allowed such waiver, provided that the waiver is voluntary and intelligent. The waiver in this case was not voluntary, intelligent, or direct. The record does not show that the Appellant affirmatively, voluntarily, and intelligently waived the right to have a sentencing jury render its opinion on the appropriateness of the death penalty. Appellant's counsel advised the Court that he had discussed the matter with the Appellant, that he had an understanding that the Phase Two hearing would be without

a jury, but that the decision would eventually be made by Mr. Thibault, his lead counsel, and his Phase Two counsel. Colloquy with the Court fell far short of a knowing and intelligent waiver. Where the record contains an express waiver of counsel in the presence of the Appellant, that waiver would be termed valid. However, the statement in this case is not an express waiver.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT ONE**

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