IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2508

# THOMAS THIBAULT,

Appellant,

- vs. -

# STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

#### RICHARD E. DORAN

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

# DEBRA RESCIGNO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0836907 1515 N. Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Fl 33401 (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**Point I**: The United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2445 (2002), does not require vacating Thibault's death sentence. The <u>Ring</u> issue is not properly before this Court as it has not been preserved and in fact, was waived by Thibault. Further, <u>Ring</u> does not apply retroactively. Finally and most importantly, this Court has already rejected the argument that <u>Ring</u> applies to Florida's capital sentencing scheme and even if it did apply, it would not apply here because the aggravating factors of prior violent felony and felonymurder were found in this case.

**Point II**: Appellant's claim that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate colloquy regarding Thibault's waiver of the advisory jury for the penalty phase is without merit as it was not preserved below and is being raised for the first time on appeal. Regarding the merits, the record reflects that Appellant's counsel expressly waived the advisory jury in Thibault's presence, which is sufficient.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THIBAULT'S DEATH SENTENCE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS, AND <u>APPRENDI V. NEW JERSEY</u>, 530 U.S. 466(2000), AND <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u>, 120 S. CT. 2348 (2002), DO NOT APPLY TO FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING SCHEME. (RESTATED).

Relying upon the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2445 (2002), Thibault argues that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is facially unconstitutional warranting vacation of his death sentence. Specifically, Thibault challenges the failure to allege the aggravating factors in the indictment, the lack of unaniminity of the jury's penalty phase recommendation, and the lack of specific findings by the jury regarding aggravating factors.

A. The <u>Ring</u> Issue is not properly before this Court.

Thibault's challenge to the facial validity of Florida's capital sentencing scheme is not properly preserved for appellate review. It is well established that for an issue to be preserved for appeal, it must be presented to the lower court and "the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved." <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993), quoting <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985);

See also Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Here, Thibault never challenged the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute based on the arguments presented on appeal. While Thibault asked for a advance notice of which aggravators the State would rely upon at the penalty phase (R 367-78, 388-89), and requested that the jury make findings of fact regarding the aggravating circumstances, he never argued that his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial was violated by the jury's failure to make the findings. Hence, the claim has not been preserved and is barred from review. Additionally, Thibault has waived the argument because he waived the advisory jury for the penalty phase.

Moreover, even if <u>Ring</u> was applicable in Florida and the issue had been preserved/not waived, <u>Ring</u>, is not subject to retroactive application under the principles of <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). Pursuant to <u>Witt</u>, <u>Ring</u> is only entitled to retroactive application if it is a decision of fundamental significance, which so drastically alters the underpinnings of Anderson's death sentence that "obvious injustice" exists. <u>New v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2001). In determining whether this standard has been met, this Court must consider three factors: the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the

administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001). Application of these factors to Ring, which did not directly or indirectly address Florida law, provides no basis for consideration of Ring in this case. The United States Supreme Court recently held that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim is not plain error. United States v. Cotton, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (May 20, 2002) (holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an Apprendi error but it did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). If an error is not plain error cognizable on direct appeal, it is not of sufficient magnitude to be a candidate for retroactive application in collateral proceedings. United States v. Sanders, 247 F.3d 139, 150-151 (4th Cir 2002) (emphasizing that finding something to be a structural error would seem to be a necessary predicate for a new rule to apply retroactively and therefore, concluding that Apprendi is not retroactive). Every federal circuit that has addressed the issue had found that Apprendi is not retroactive. See, e.q., McCoy v. United States, 266 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. The one state supreme court that has addressed the 2001). retroactivity of Apprendi has, likewise, determine that the decision is not retroactive. Whisler v. State, 36 P.3d 290

(Kan. 2001). Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has held that a violation of the right to a jury trial is not retroactive. <u>DeStefano v. Woods</u>, 392 U.S. 631 (1968) (refusing to apply the right to a jury trial retroactively because there were no serious doubts about the fairness or the reliability of the fact-finding process being done by the judge rather than the jury).

B. The <u>Ring</u> decision does not apply to Florida.

This Court has clearly rejected the argument that <u>Ring</u> implicitly overruled its earlier opinions upholding Florida's sentencing scheme. <u>See e.g. Mills v. Moore</u>, 786 So.2d 532, 537 (Fla. 2001). In <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S891 (Fla. October 24, 2002) this Court stated:

> Although Bottoson contends that he is entitled to relief under <u>Ring</u>, we decline to so hold. The United States Supreme Court in February 2002 stayed Bottoson's execution and placed the present case in abeyance while it decided <u>Ring</u>. That Court then in June 2002 issued its decision in <u>Ring</u>, summarily denied Bottonson's petition for certiorari, and lifted the stay without mentioning <u>Ring</u> in the Bottonson order. The Court did not direct the Florida Supreme Court to reconsider <u>Bottoson</u> in light of <u>Ring</u>.

<u>See also</u> <u>King v. Moore</u>, 27 Fla.L.Weekly S906 (Fla. Oct. 24, 2002). <u>Ring</u> does not apply because Florida's death sentencing statute is very different from the Arizona statute at issue in

Ring. Under Arizona law, the determination of death eligibility takes place during the penalty phase proceedings, and requires that an aggravating factor exists. Thus, based solely on the jury's verdict finding Ring guilty of first-degree felony murder, the maximum penalty he could have received was life imprisonment. Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2437. In contrast, this Court has previously recognized that the statutory maximum for first degree murder in Florida is death, and has repeatedly rejected claims similar to those raised herein. Cox v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S585 (Fla. May 23, 2002); Bottoson v. State, 813 So. 2d 31, 36 (Fla. 2002), <u>cert. denied</u>, Case No. 01-8099 (U.S. June 28, 2002); <u>Hertz v. State</u>, 803 So. 2d 629, 648 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, Case No. 01-9154 (U.S. June 28, 2002); Looney v. State, 803 So. 2d 656, 675 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, Case No. 01-9932 (U.S. June 28, 2002); Brown v. Moore, 800 So. 2d 223, 224-225 (Fla. 2001); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595, 599 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, Case No. 01-7092 (U.S. June 28, 2002); <u>Mills</u>, 786 So. 2d at 536-38. This is a pivotal distinction between Florida and Arizona. <u>Rinq</u>, at \*13; <u>Mullaney</u> <u>v. Wilbur</u>, 421 U.S. 684 (1975).

Moreover, contrary to Appellant's claim, <u>Ring</u> does not require jury sentencing in capital cases, rather it involves only the requirement that the jury find the defendant death-

eligible. Id. at n.4. A clear understanding of what Ring says is essential to understanding why it doesn't apply to Florida's capital sentencing procedures. As already recognized by this Court, the Ring decision left intact all prior opinions upholding the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme, including Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984), and Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989). It quotes Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976), acknowledging that ("[i]t has never [been] suggested that jury sentencing is constitutionally required."). Ring, at \*9, n.4. In Florida, any death sentence which was imposed following a jury recommendation of death necessarily satisfies the Sixth Amendment as construed in <u>Ring</u>, because the jury necessarily found beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one appravating factor existed. Since the finding of an aggravating factor authorizes the imposition of a death sentence, the requirement that a jury determine the conviction to have been a capital offense has been fulfilled in any case in which the jury recommended a death sentence.

Even in the wake of <u>Ring</u>, a jury only has to make a finding of one aggravator and then the judge may make the remaining findings. <u>Ring</u> is limited to the finding of an aggravator, not any additional aggravators, nor mitigation, nor any weighing. <u>Ring</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2445 (Scalia, J., concurring)(explaining that

the fact finding necessary for the jury to make in a capital case is limited to "an aggravating factor" and does not extend to mitigation or to the ultimate life-or-death decision which may continue to be made by the judge); Ring, 122 S.Ct. 2445 (Kennedy, J., concurring)(noting that it is the finding of "an aggravating circumstance" that exposes the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's verdict). Constitutionally, to be eligible for the death penalty, all the sentencer must find is one narrower, *i.e.*, one aggravator, at either the guilt or penalty phase. Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 972 (1994)(observing "[t]o render a defendant eligible for the death penalty in a homicide case, we have indicated that the trier of fact must convict the defendant of murder and find one 'aggravating circumstance' (or its equivalent) at either the guilt or penalty phase."). So, once a jury has found one aggravator, the constitution is satisfied, the judge may do the We know this is true because the Court in Apprendi held, rest. and reaffirmed in <u>Ring</u>, that a prior violent felony aggravator satisfied the Sixth Amendment; therefore, no further jury consideration is necessary once a qualifying aggravator is found.

Furthermore, to the extent that Thibault claims the death penalty statute is unconstitutional for failing to require juror

unanimity, or the charging of the aggravating factors in the indictment, or special jury verdicts, <u>Ring</u> provides no support for his claims. These issues are expressly not addressed in <u>Ring</u>, and in the absence of any United States Supreme Court ruling to the contrary, there is no need to reconsider this Court's well established rejection of these claims. <u>Sweet v.</u> <u>Moore</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S585 (Fla. June 13, 2002); <u>Cox v.</u> <u>State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S505, n.17 (Fla. May 23, 2002) (noting that prior decisions on these issues need not be revisited "unless and until" the United States Supreme Court recedes from <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242 (1976)).

As this Court has recognized, "[t]he Supreme Court has specifically directed lower courts to 'leav[e] to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.' <u>Agostini v.</u> <u>Felton</u>, 521 U.S. 203, 237, 117 S.Ct. 1997, 138 L.Ed.2d 391 (1997) (quoting <u>Rodriguez de Ouijas v. Shearson/American</u> <u>Express, Inc.</u>, 490 U.S. 477, 484, 109 S.Ct. 1917, 104 L.Ed.2d 526 (1989))." <u>Mills</u>, 786 So. 2d at 537. The United States Supreme Court has declined to disturb its prior decisions upholding the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing process, and that result is dispositive of Thibault's claims.

And finally, to the extent <u>Ring</u> would be applicable to Thibault, the requirements of same have been met. In its

sentencing order, the trial court found the existence of the aggravating factor that the murder was committed during the course of a violent extended robbery (R 742). Appellant pled guilty to the robbery (T 55). Consequently, the underlying factual premise for the finding of this aggravator was made by the judge at the guilt phase.

Additionally, the trial court found the existence of the aggravating factor that Thibault had been convicted of another prior violent felony (R 741). The judge's finding of the prior violent felony aggravator is exempted from the holding in Apprendi explicitly exempted recidivist factual Apprendi. findings from its holding. Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 490 (holding, other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt). Thus, a trial court may make factual findings regarding recidivism. Walker v. State, 790 So.2d 1200, 1201 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) (noting that Florida courts, consistent with <u>Apprendi</u>'s language excluding recidivism from its holding, have uniformly held that an habitual offender sentence is not subject to an Apprendi). Because this is a recidivist aggravator, the prior violent felony aggravator may be found by the judge even in the wake of Ring. Ring, 122 S.Ct. 2445 at n.4

(noting that none of the aggravators at issue related to past convictions and that therefore the holding in <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224 (1998), which allowed the judge to find the fact of prior conviction even if it increases the sentence beyond the statutory maximum was not being challenged).

In summary, this claim is not properly before this Court because it is unpreserved and has been waived. Further, this Court has already rejected the argument that <u>Ring</u> applies to Florida's sentencing scheme. Consequently, for the reasons state above, Thibault is not entitled to relief based on <u>Ring</u>.

#### POINT II

# THIBAULT KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED THE ADVISORY JURY (RESTATED).

Appellant argues that the trial court failed to conduct an adequate colloquy regarding Thibault's waiver of the advisory jury for the penalty phase. This claim is without merit as it is being raised for the first time on appeal and as the record reflects that Appellant's counsel expressly waived the advisory jury in Thibault's presence, which is sufficient.

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. <u>State v.</u> <u>Carr</u>, 336 So. 2d 358 (Fla.1976). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

Thibault has failed to preserve this issue for review. In <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 906, 913, (Fla. 2002), this Court held that "the failure of a capital defendant to first attack the voluntariness of a waiver of a sentencing jury at the trial court precludes review on direct appeal." Here, Thibault failed to raise the alleged insufficiency of the colloquy before the trial court and therefore, may not raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

Further, his claim is without merit. Regarding the waiver of the advisory jury, the record must affirmatively show that the defendant voluntarily and intelligently waived the right to

have a sentencing jury render its opinion on the appropriateness of the death penalty. <u>Lamadline v. State</u>, 303 So. 2d 17, 20(Fla. 1974). The trial judge, upon a finding of a voluntary and intelligent waiver, may in his or her discretion either require an advisory jury recommendation, or may proceed to sentence the defendant without such advisory jury recommendation. <u>Carr</u> at 359; <u>See also</u> <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 648, 656 (Fla.1981), <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991), <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 343, 361(Fla. 2001).

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